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Public Hearing, held at the location of:

MONROE COUNTY ANNEX
901 Illinois Avenue
Waterloo, Illinois 62298

(618) 939-3434

Pursuant to agreement, before Sue Pybas,

Notary Public in and for the State of Illinois.
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A PPEARANCES

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD:

JOHN KNIERY, ESQUIRE

HEALTH FACILITIES AND SERVICES REVIEW BOARD

525 W. Jefferson Street, Second Floor

Springfield, Illinois 62761

(217) 782-3516

ON BEHALF OF MONROE COUNTY, ILLINOIS:

ANNE M. COOPER, ESQUIRE

ARONGBERG GOLDGEHN DAVIS & GARMISA

225 W. Washington Street, Suite 2800

Chicago,

Illinois 60606

(312) 755-3169
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ALSO

A PPEARANCES CONTTINUETD

PRESENT:

Monica Legrand, State Board Member

Sharie Ryan, State Board Staff Member

Aron Virden, State Board Staff Member

Mike Constantino, State Board Staff Member
(via Webex)

Blanca Dominquez, State Board Staff Member
(via Webex)

George Green, County Commissioner

Public Speakers: Sandra Reed,

Anna Johnson, Lucille Moehrs, Gina Pfund,
Jason Chism, Darline Weihl, Connie Stratman,
Clara Stratman, Vicki Singer,

Patrick J. Kelly, Caroline Muench,

Judy Niemann, Donna DeWilde, Nancy Schanz,
Julia Olszewski, Richard Trent, Pam Mathews,
Gary Baum, Bonnie Christiansen,

Gweneth Niehaus, Marilyn Brinkmann,

Scot Luchtefeld, Mary Ferguson, Pamela Muertz,
Sidney Horn, and Tony Grasso,

Stephanie Muertz
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PROCEZEDTINGS

THE ADMINISTRATOR: May I have your
attention?

Good afternoon. My name is John
Kniery. State Board Member Mona LeGrand, and
Board Staffer Sharie Ryan and Aron Virden are
here with me. Attending virtually are State Board
Staff, Mike Constantino and Blanca Dominguez. We
are here from the Illinois Health Department to
represent the Illinois Health Facilities and
Service Review Board. We are conducting a public
hearing on the project certificate in need number
25-031, Oak Hill Senior Living and Rehab Center in
Waterloo.

In accordance with the rules of the
Health Facilities and Service Review Board, I
would like to read into the legal notice. The
Illinois Health Facilities Planning Act 20 ILCS
3960 requires that notice is given of the receipt
of an application to transfer operational
ownership of the long-term care facility in
Waterloo, Project Number 25-031.

The applicants are Monroe County;

Accolade Ventures, LLC; Accolade Healthcare of

PLANET DEPOS
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Waterloo, LLC; and the applicants propose to
transfer operational ownership of its 144-bed
long-term care facility located at 623 Hamacher
Street, Waterloo. The project cost is $2,835,857.

The Illinois Health Facilities and
Service Review Board staff will conduct a public
hearing today, Wednesday, October 3rd -- 8th,
2025, at 4 p.m. at the Monroe County Annex
building. Its address is 901 Illinois Avenue,
Waterloo, Illinois. The hearing is an open,
public meeting and is subject to the Open Meetings
Act.

If you have not done so, please sign in
using the appropriate registration forms. The
first form is a general sign-in form.

The second form is for individuals who
wish to present oral testimony in favor or
opposition of the proposed project. To protect
any privacy and maintain the confidentiality of an
individual's health information at the public
hearing, covered entities as defined by the Health
Insurance Portability Act of 1996, such facilities
as hospital providers, health plans, health

clearing houses, submitting oral or written

PLANET DEPOS
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testimony that discloses health-protected --
protected -- I'm sorry, protected health
information of individuals must have a valid
written authorization from that individual before
identifying them by name or sharing medical
information. The authorization shall allow the
covered entity to share the individual's protected
health information at this hearing.

Those of you who came with prepared
statements for your presentation, you may choose
to submit that written statement without giving
oral presentation by handing it to the staff or
you can present at the table. If you are giving
oral testimony, we kindly request that you be as
brief as possible due to -- ensure everyone who
wishes has the ability to do -- and sufficient
time to do so.

Due to the number of individuals who
have expressed an interest in providing testimony,
we are limiting the oral presentations to two
minutes each. As stated in the legal notice, if
you have prepared a written copy of your
testimony, we would appreciate getting at least

two copies of your statements. The public hearing

PLANET DEPOS
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is being recorded. Please, be sure to give the
court reporter the spelling -- the correct
spelling of your name before you begin speaking.
That will not be included as part of your time.

It is important to talk directly into
the -- the mic, the remaining -- I'm sorry. If
there is a -- we have a chief spokesperson for the
applicant, they will begin, and then we will go
through the registration list in order. I ask
that you please hold your questions until all
testimony is presented.

Would you like to proceed?

THE AUDIENCE: We can't hear him.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: We don't have --
you're going to have to speak loud. I'm sorry.

MR. GREEN: Hi. My name 1is George

Green.

THE AUDIENCE: We can't hear you.

We can't hear him.

We can't hear you back here.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: We don't have mic
system?

Could -- could -- could you just stand

up briefly?

PLANET DEPOS
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MR. GREEN: Do you want me to turn
towards you?

MS. LEGRAND: Maybe turn around and
face them. Mic's there.

MR. GREEN: We'll try it this way.

Better?

THE AUDIENCE: Yeah.

MR. GREEN: All right. My name's
George Green. I'm a county commissioner, and I'm
the chairman of the county commissioners. 1In

early spring of 2023, the county commissioners
were advised of a billing issue with respect to
Medicare billing at Oak Hill. The County
continues to address that issue and hopes to bring
it to resolution in the very near future. That's
not the end of the story, however.

MS. LEGRAND: Sir --

MR. GREEN: Once --

MS. LEGRAND: Can you get behind --

MR. GREEN: All right.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: I'm sorry.

MS. LEGRAND: Yeah.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: I know.

MR. GREEN: Okay. Once the County

PLANET DEPOS
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Board was made aware of the issue, it determined
that the only way to ensure that the County could
accomplish both forthrightness with Medicare along
with protect the county from those prior issues.
In addition to protecting against occurrences was
to engage with an outside firm to determine the
extent and identify the problems that led to the
issue.

Over the next 18 months, while working
alongside Armanino LLP, the County Board was
brought several conclusions about the genesis of
the issue at 0Oak Hill, but one stood above the
rest. The issue was that the county government,
as both previously and currently constructed is
not equipped with the expertise, support, and
underlying knowledge based to successfully run Oak
Hill. That left the County Board with a few
paths. Each of which was explored by the
commissioners with diligence and objectivity.

The paths were discussed at length with
the consultant group, Armanino. The paths
included: first, hiring personnel beyond the
simple hiring of a nursing home administrator to

fully and wholly support the operation at Oak

PLANET DEPOS
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11

Hill. That was discovered on this path. What was
discovered on this path was that the indisputable
fact, that such a path would come at a
significantly cost to the taxpayer, both in
monetary terms and in government services.

Stated simply, the cost to fully
support Oak Hill at the county level, if it could
even hire and identify the necessary folks was
going to result in added taxes and -- and cuts to
other essential government services.

The second path, a management company.
Now, the County -- County had gone down this path
before with mixed results. Once again, the
indisputable facts related to this path --

THE AUDIENCE: That's two minutes.

MR. GREEN: -- the parameters of the
management agreements --

THE AUDIENCE: Yeah. Yep.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Sir, we —-- we need
to get -- the applicant needs to be able to
present the project. Then we will hear all of the
testimony that we can.

THE AUDIENCE: We heard the project on

a previous meeting.

PLANET DEPOS
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We did.

We still can't hear.

Yeah.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: This is -- this is
for public record so that our board can take all
of the information into consideration.

THE AUDIENCE: Can -- can you hear us?
We can't hear you.

Can you talk in the mic? Speak up --

THE ADMINISTRATOR: There -- there --
the -- this room has no --

MS. LEGRAND: Amplification.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: -—- amplification.
The --

MR. GREEN: I have to stand here so
they can record it. I'll try to speak louder.

As I was saying, the County had gone
down the path of management company with some
mixed results. Once again, the indisputable facts
related to the path, given the parameters of a
management agreement, again, resulted in added
cost and ultimately the loss of Oak Hill.

The third path and the one that was

ultimately decided upon was to figure out how to

PLANET DEPOS
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make sure Oak Hill survived the realities of
staffing challenges, ever-evolving regulations, so
that future generations of Monroe County residents
have Oak Hill as a choice for their grandparents,
parents, and eventually themselves.

The cost of the realities of that --
that a sale of the facility is not permitted short
of a voter referendum, a lease of the facility,
and a sale of the operations were the obvious
solution. Despite a solution to the problem being
settled upon, the County Board was not optimistic
that a suitable partner would be found. After
many discussions and after engaging with an expert
in the nursing home, real estate field, the County
was introduced to Accolade. The introduction was
just the beginning, but through continued
communication, a relationship was formed and
became clear that Accolade was a right group to
shepherd Oak Hill into the future.

The Monroe County Board recognizes the
following indisputable facts: that Oak Hill's
prior and expected continued success are based on
the Sterling employees that have made Oak Hill

part of their lives. And that Oak Hill's a

PLANET DEPOS
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beautiful facility with wonderful residents. As a
County board, we are sad that the conclusion --
that the conclusion to lease Oak Hill was one that
had to be reached. We are sad that the ability
for any county, any county to successfully run a
nursing home has become unsustainable. And we are
sad that Oak Hill will no longer be called by its
actual name, the Monroe County Nursing Home.

That sadness will persist. Because Oak
Hill has been a significant part of the county for
so long, but it will subside as we continue to
realize that through its -- though it's not the
Monroe County Nursing Home. It still is there.
And the story and the history cannot be erased and
will be remembered by myself and every
commissioner that I have served with and that have
come before me. And it continued -- and its
continued existence and history associated with it
will be in the capable hands of Accolade Health.

The Accolade group is made up of
wonderful, caring folks who have a passion for
this field. They have a base of expertise that
the County knows will equip them for significant

and continued success for the operation of Oak

PLANET DEPOS
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Hill. But most importantly, the board recognizes
that Accolade represents the sustainable and
successful future of Oak Hill. At least with
Accolade is what the County Board knew so many
months ago it was path -- it was the path to
ensure that Oak Hill is saved for future
generations of Monroe County residents.

We're happy to have them as part of our
community and look forward to their continued
success.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Thank you.

MR. GREEN: Thank you. I'll go down
this way.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Sandra Reed.

MS. REED: Name is Sandra Reed.

MS. LEGRAND: Could you spell your last
name for me, please?

MS. REED: R-E-E-D.

MS. LEGRAND: Thank you.

MS. REED: Okay. I have a letter from
-—- or a note -- a letter from my daughter, Kelly
Shopkowski, who is a licensed RN nurse. And I'm
not going to read the whole letter because of

time, but in contrast, Accolade facilities

PLANET DEPOS
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consistently show repeated and serious
deficiencies in infection control, low staffing
ratings, and substandard surveys results in the
ITllinois CMS state data.

When you agitate those datas across
multiple locations, a pattern emerges of
systematic quality and issues. Oak Hill, Monroe
County. Four-star rating. One federal fine of
less than $10,000 in 9-20-22. Four citations in
the past three years. One complaint in three
years resulting in a citation. Accolade and Savoy
records indicate took over operations in 24. 19
citations noted by the state. 46 complaints in
three years resulting in citations. 10 complaints
inspections since taking over. One-star rating.
One federal fine since taking over the operation
that amounted to $37,557.

Accolade East Peoria records indicate
took over operations in 2022. Facility is now
closed, reported closed due to the sale of the
property. There were four citations. 16

complaints in three years resulting in citation.

Three federal fines during ownership. One payment
denial for Medicare in '23. One-star rating.
PLANET DEPOS
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Accolade in Danville, records indicate took over
operations in November 2020. Five federal fines
in the past three years. Overall rating is at
two. 19 citations noted. State of Illinois
average 1is 12.3, and the national is 9.5. 21

complaints in the past three years resulting in

citations.

Accolade Paxton on Pells --

MR. VINDEN: 30 seconds.

MS. REED: -- records indicate over
operation in 2018. One-star rating. Seven
federal fines. 17 citations. 12 complaints in
three years. Accolade Pontiac records indicate in

2017, three-star rating. One federal fine in
three years of $13,000. Seven citations. Three
complaints over the years.

Accolade Peoria. Another one.
Three-star rating. Eight citations. 12
complaints. I have a list of gquestions that I
would like to have this board ask and to find out
how you will manage to keep our Oak Hill holding a
four-star rating with a company that has shown so
many citations. I have all the numbers --

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Thank you.

PLANET DEPOS
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MS. REED: -- the dockets, everything
listed. I'd like you --

THE ADMINISTRATOR: I will make sure
that's part of the board packet.

MS. REED: Please.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: It will go to each
of the board members. Thank you.

MS. REED: Did you say you needed two
copies?

THE ADMINISTRATOR: If you have two
copies. Thank you very much.

MS. REED: You're welcome.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Anna Johnson. Anna

J. Johnson.

MS. JOHNSON: A-N-N-A, J-O-H-N-S-0O-N.

MS. LEGRAND: You're going to have to
stand up.

MS. JOHNSON: Stand over here?

MS. LEGRAND: Yep.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: And -- and if you
cannot hear, there are a couple seats up front.
If you want to come up front.

MS. JOHNSON: My name is Anna Johnson.

I'm a licensed nursing home administrator in the

PLANET DEPOS
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state of Illinois, Wisconsin, and Minnesota. I
have had the privilege and honor of serving as the
interim administrator at Oak Hill since the 10th
of August. Prior to my arrival, there was a state
survey licensure for the annual survey. Oak Hill
received three citations. One of them was
associated with federal and state fines. This
will impact the star rating and has nothing to do
with Accolade Healthcare.

It is my professional opinion that the
only way that Oak Hill can survive and, 1in fact,
thrive is through competent operational management
with a group of people who know the industry, who
are experts in the field, and a -- and a group --
a company that has a very broad bench to run a
nursing home requires not just one capable
administrator, but a corporate team to support the
activities in this day and age. Our survey
environment, our regulations, what we have to do
to be in compliance is greater than at any time in
nursing home history.

I also want to make it very clear that
my support of approving this lease of operations

is at no benefit to myself. I am an independent

PLANET DEPOS
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contractor not working directly for Monroe County,
and have never been associated with Accolade
Healthcare until seven weeks ago, when I made
their acquaintance because of operational needs.
This is the best thing for Oak Hill. And it is my
professional opinion that the leadership of
Accolade Healthcare has the heart and the desire,
the passion and the expertise to manage Oak Hill
and to maintain its greatness for this community.

These people are not only experts in
their field, but they are highly ethical, they are
compassionate, and they put their residents and
staff members first. And over and over and over
again in conversations, I have had the privilege
of learning that and seeing that and experiencing
that firsthand. This is the best decision, even
though, emotionally, it is very hard for this
community. Thank you.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Lucille Moehrs.

MS. MOEHRS: Lucille Moehrs,
M-O-E-H-R-S. Okay.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Thank you.

MS. MOEHRS: All right. Reasons to

keep Oak Hill Nursing Home operated by the County.

PLANET DEPOS
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Our family has been involved with the Monroe
County Nursing Home since 1958. We had many
family members staying there and many friends
working there. I volunteered there in the gift
shop and helped with activities for many years.

My uncle was there 17 years. My dad there for

four years. My mother-in-law, five years. My
father-in-law, four years. The care was very
good. And nurses and aides took very care -- good

care of them.

The first administrator I knew was
Henrietta Bauer. I also knew Collette Rau and Kim
Keckritz. They were amazing. I know there were a
few that didn't do a great job, but all in all, it
is a great place. Since the new people have taken
over, the Alzheimer's section has closed. There
is no longer a gift shop. And I don't know if
they still have the activity department that the
residents get to come to and have activities to
entertain them.

The residents of Monroe County should
have a voice in deciding whether the County
continues to run Oak Hill, and not just the three

county commissioners. Hopefully, the state will

PLANET DEPOS
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support us and put a referendum on a ballot so we
can have a say that the County should or should
not be continuing to maintain the facility.

Thank you for letting us express our
opinion. Lucy Moehrs and Vernell Moehrs.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Can -- can I get
your copies?

MS. MOEHRS: Oh. There's two copies.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Excellent. Thank
you.

MS. MOEHRS: You're welcome.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Gina Pfund. And --
and my apologies i1f I'm butchering names.

MS. PFUND: No. No. You're right.
You're right.

Gina Pfund. P as in Paul, F as in
Frank, U-N, as in Nancy, D as in dog.

MS. LEGRAND: G-I-N-A?

MS. PFUND: G-I-N-A. Yeah.

I would like to thank all of you for
taking the time to come and listen to us. Really
appreciate that. I'm -- Lucy Moehrs is my mom, SO
I'm going to kind of piggyback off of her.

Attached to Oak Hill is Evergreen

PLANET DEPOS
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Pointe Rehabilitation Facility. In the past two
years, I've had direct contact with facility. My
parents both had to spend some time there before
returning home due to medical conditions. We
found the quality of the care and the staff to be
phenomenal. During the summer of 2023, my dad,
Vernell Moehrs, spent a total of almost two months
at Evergreen Pointe.

In fact, it was one of the nurses who
is the reason that he is alive today. Camille
Donjon noticed that dad's incision did not look
quite right along with dad being unusually
lethargic, unable to eat, and running a low-grade
fever. She got in contact with a surgeon who sent
him immediately by ambulance back to Memorial
FEast, where he had an emergency bowel repair.
Dad's bowel had ruptured. Dad was in ICU for
almost two weeks, and then return to Evergreen
Pointe, where he had -- where he was rehabbed. It
was a long and difficult road, but dad was able to
return home.

During the summer of 2024, my mom,
Lucille Moehrs, spent two weeks there recovering

from a fractured pelvis. Again, extremely pleased

PLANET DEPOS
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with the care she received during her time there
-- during the -- there with her, as well as
eventually being able to return home. Evergreen
Pointe provides quality care with quality people.
It is my fear that if Accolade is allowed to
assume control of the entire Oak Hill facility,
that the quality of care will begin to suffer.

I have lived in Monroe County my entire
life, paying property taxes for a total of 39
years, which a portion goes to maintaining the
nursing home. It has been a comfort for me to
know that the standard of care given to my loved
ones who have needed to stay there has been
top-notch. I would also like to know that a
quality facility will be there should I ever need
to use it for any reason.

I strongly feel that Monroe County
should maintain control of Oak Hill. I also feel
that if Oak Hill should become privatized, then
the voters should have a say in this matter and be
the ones to approve that decision. I also feel
that since Monroe County is one of the richest
counties in Illinois, we should very well be able

to afford to keep this facility open.

PLANET DEPOS
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THE ADMINISTRATOR: Okay. Thank you
very much.

Jason Chism.

MS. LEGRAND: Sir, can you spell your
name, please?

MR. CHISM: Jason -- Jason Chism,
J-A-S-0-N, C-H-I-S-M.

My name's Jason Chism. I am the

District 7 Sub 2 District Director for the United

Steel Workers Union. We represent the hardworking
men and women at Oak Hill. We have a collective
bargain agreement in place. And our current CBA

was recently negotiated December 1st, 2024, and
runs through November 30th, 2027. The USW has
represented workers at this location since
February 25th, 2004.

The union has negotiated many contracts
since then has worked -- and has worked diligently
to have a strong working relationship with Oak
Hill and Monroe County. The USW also represents
workers of the Monroe County Highway Department.
The union has a major vested interest in
maintaining the current labor contract, which

protects the current workforce at Oak Hill, but
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also making sure the residents continue to receive
the outstanding care they receive from our members.
Our skilled nursing staff, our CNAs,
our PRNs, our housekeeping, our cooks, our
dietary, our maintenance employees, including
management personnel have worked diligently to
make Oak Hill one of the top nursing homes in the
state. This doesn't happen overnight. It is from
years of dedicated employees and this community
being dedicated and making Oak Hill successful.
These things will not change if Oak Hill remains a
Monroe County entity and not allowed to move
forward with this lease to an outside entity.
Since this was made public, there has
been nothing but confusion, very little answers to
questions, and has not met what the union
discussed any of these potential changes up to
this point. The potential new company has been in
the facility, meeting with our members, creating
even more confusion among them. Discussing
policy, possible changing in working conditions,
wages, and at even times disparaging the union.
MR. VINDEN: 30 seconds.

MR. CHISM: We have a contract in
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place, and the union has been waiting patiently to
sit down with Monroe County and the possible new
employer to discuss our current labor agreement.

Monroe County Commissioners would lead
you to believe this is a struggling facility.
This facility is far from it. Do we have our
challenges? Sure. We do. We work together with
management and we figure out the best way to
resolve an issue and move forward, always keeping
the residents' best interest in mind. It has
always been this culture that makes this a
special, top of the line nursing home.

The Monroe County Commissioners claim
it no longer has the requisite expertise to
operate a skilled nursing facility. As I stated
before, we have a skilled nursing staff, CNAs,
PRNs, our housekeeping, cooks, dietary maintenance
employees, among other positions, including
hardworking management team that has worked
diligently in making Oak Hill one of the top
nursing homes in the state. For the County to
make this claim is just plain false.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Thank you, sir.

MR. CHISM: What?
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THE ADMINISTRATOR: Your -- your time.

MR. CHISM: Well, that's a shame.

MS. WEIHL: 1I'll give you 30 seconds of
my two minutes.

MR. CHISM: Thank you.

MS. WEIHL: There you go.

MR. CHISM: 1In fact, it is true, we

have had changing in administrators in the last

four out of five years. These troubles should not

be lumped in with an excuse to lease the facility
to an outside entity. Monroe County should be
held accountable to tighten up their belts and

hire the right qualified personnel for the

position. In all business cases, this would be
the outcome. This situation should be no
different.

Oak Hill is one of the oldest county
operated nursing homes in the state. 1It's been
embedded in this community for many, many years
dating back all the way to 1858. The USW has
represented workers of this facility for a very
long time, and its skilled workers has made this

facility a five-star facility for many years, and

currently sits at a four-star rated facility, both
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awesome achievements, but indicate the dedication
from the workers, the community, and the residents
that reside at Oak Hill.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Thank you, sir. I

—— T -—-
MR. CHISM: Do you --
THE ADMINISTRATOR: I will make sure to
get your comments to the board. I -- I will make

sure to get your comments in the board's packet.

MR. CHISM: I can give you these.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Thank you.

Darline Weihl?

MS. WEIHL: Yes. My name is Darline
Weihl and I'm going to get emotional over this.

MS. LEGRAND: Ma'am, I need --

MS. WEIHL: D-A-R-L-I-N-E, Weihl,
W-E-I-H-L.

I am just a citizen of Monroe County.
This has been handled very wrong. They have
withheld information, haven't printed -- given us
notice of -- of what their plans were. And when
they had the first meeting and it was like, it was
published. Two days, we had to get a letter to

you guys, and that was deliberate. They have
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deliberately withheld information that this County
knows what's going on. That is wrong.

I have a list of things here. 1I'm not
going to submit that, but I only have a letter
that I've written to -- please do not let this
deal go through. It is wrong. The County needs
to know.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Thank you.

Connie Stratman-?

MS. CONNIE STRATMAN: Connie Stratman.
S-T-R-A-T-M-A-N.

My issue on this is the way this has
been pushed through and not presented to the
community long before the vote. How can three
commissioners vote to sell Oak Hill, that was
voted on and paid for by the Citizens of Monroe
County? Where was this decision shared with the
public? Who 1s being interviewed for this sale?
Where was it even considered before -- days before
signing?

We showed up at a meeting that was
quickly pushed through and three commissioners sat
there looking at the ceiling and not caring what

anybody was saying. How can a facility that has
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ratings less than our current facility be
considered without looking for other options?

When asked to the commissioners, when
they have even visited the facility, three of
them, looked at each other and didn't even know
how to answer. Two of them, couldn't even admit
being there in the last year. How can they
oversee an operations that they're in charge of
and not even show up at the facility? How can
they place blame on what is happening, when they
were the ones that have hired the last two
administrators? They should have been overseeing
the administrators and known what was going on.
And more importantly, they should have been
sharing it with the public that voted them in.

I don't know how you can determine this
sale on these facts when the facts haven't been
given to the public that paid for it.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Thank you.

Clara Stratman? Clara?

MS. CLARA STRATMAN: It's Clara,
C-L-A-R-A.

MS. LEGRAND: And Stratman the same as
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MS. CLARA STRATMAN: Yes. She's my
daughter.

I pretty much have the same thing to
say as my daughter said. My husband was a patient
there for two-and-a-half years and recently passed
away just a few months ago. I tried very hard to
visit him every day for two-and-a-half years. I
see what care they are given by these amazing
people that work there.

I've been volunteering since he passed
and I see the changes that have taken place in the
last two months. We were told there would be no
changes when this place took over. People have
lost vacation time. They've taken away most of
the gift shop. These residents get so excited, if
they can go to that gift shop and buy a bottle of
soda. Why do we let these people take this away,
when that's all these residents have left, is some
freedom to shop for themself?

It's so sad that nobody listens to the
public. I -- I -- I just can't tell you how it
breaks my heart to go there now and see the
changes. And this was after they said there will

be no changes. What is coming next? Thank you.
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THE ADMINISTRATOR: Thank you.

Vicki Singer? Vicki Singer?

MS. SINGER: V-I-C-K-I, S-I-N-G-E-R.

I truly hope this meeting will have an
impact on the state and that the state will not
approve the lease of Oak Hill to Accolade. Even
though the lease has not been approved by the
state, there are a number of changes happening at
Oak Hill. The gift shop has been remodeled,
entryway and reception area updated, activity room
painted, floor cleaned and buffed. There have
also been some staffing changes as well.

Let it be known that we didn't find out
about the County's decision regarding Oak Hill
until a few weeks before we had the first and only
meeting with our commissioners at the end of
August. Originally, we thought the meeting would
be a question and answer, but no, it was only
comments from the residents. Even though
questions were not answered, the most asked was
why? Why didn't they reach out to the community
before making this impactful decision?

This nursing home has been in our

county since 1951. It has assisted generations of
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residents keep their relatives close and in a
great facility. The staff treats the residents
with care and respect, as well as their families.
If there are questions or issues, they are
addressed promptly. Oak Hill provides jobs for
local residents. With the facility being County
owned, it has allowed the staff to have a great
retirement plan.

If Accolade leases, they will not be
able to keep that retirement plan because it will
no longer be a County facility. And it's 10 years
for them to be vested, which is a long time. This
is a huge benefit -- benefit for staff, along with
their union as well.

And since COVID, there were many
changes that were made, and not many of them were
good. I was not aware of the liaison group that
Oak Hill had prior to our meeting that we had in
August, where they actually said they had doctors
and -- and nurses and employees that were on the

staff and they would go and kind of like be a

go-between, between Oak Hill and the commissioners.

Okay. Sorry. I got off of my track.

In my opinion, the commissioners don't want the
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responsibility of Oak Hill because it has become
difficult for them and not profitable. If that
was the case, they should have reached out to the
community first. It is terrible that three
individuals made this decision that impacts
potentially thousands. With the leasing of Oak
Hill, Accolade wants to change it to a critical
care facility as well.

All bill -- beds are filled quickly and
the type of facility we have now has been fine.
The hospital is the best place for residents to
receive critical care. Not sure how many beds
will be removed for this new area and what the
full impact will be, but definitely more
credentialed nurses will need to be hired --

MR. VINDEN: Time.

MS. SINGER: -- and possibly -- for all
of the folks -- hold on. For all of the folks I
came to the meeting in August, we spoke but
weren't heard. Hopefully we'll be heard now.
Please don't approve this lease. Thank you.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Thank you very
much. Appreciate it. Thank you.

Patrick Kelly? Patrick J. Kelly,
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Senior?

MR. KELLY: P-A-T-R-I-C-K, middle
initial J., last name Kelly, K-E-L-L-Y, Senior.

Most of you don't know me, but I've
been to every county board meeting since Delbert
Wittenauer left. And it's a shame the County
never did present any of this to any county board
meeting in the last eight years. Everything has
been undercover. Nobody wants to let anybody know
anything. I've asked the County Board actually
just last meeting, the one they had there, and I
still never get an answer from them and stuff.

Why is the board in such a hurry to
sneak this lease or even sell the -- the -- pass
-— sell this place without the taxpayer's
approval? And this board will not keep Oak Hill
open, even though the taxpayers have fully
supported it by vote, after vote. The board needs
to look at Oak Hill being abandoned by this
corporation and make a quick buck and leave Monroe
County. Why is it other facilities remain
profitable while ours loses money? Does the board
not care about the patients and their care? Why

does -- doesn't the board want to do their job
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that they were elected to?

What happened with endowment board's
money? Is —-- are they still going to be keeping
it there after all the stuff that this new
facility's taken over? Will they be requesting
money from the endowment board where before the
county paid it? Now they're wanting money from
the -- from endowment board? Then -- excuse me.
The nursing home are running over in their coffin
the people who have been there and retired from
there and that.

Why did the board think they could
shirk their duties of our seniors and pull this
off without any resistance? This will not be
forgotten. Does the board not realize all the
benefits Oak Hill has provided the county and the
citizens for many years? That's it for me.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Thank -- thank you.

Caroline Muench?

MS. MUENCH: Hi, C-A-R-0-L-I-N-E,
M-U-E-N-C-H.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: How do you
pronounce that?

MS. MUENCH: It's like bench.
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THE ADMINISTRATOR: Bench.

MS. MUENCH: It's Muench.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: So Muench?

Perfect. I --

MS. MUENCH: You're in a German
community, man. Just saying.

All right. So quality of care, they've
had Savoy for multiple years, still a one-star
rating. I don't know. I don't think they're
capable of getting to a four or five-star. None
of their facilities are four or five-star. They
actually have an outstanding wrongful death case
litigation against them right now, right?

Financial stability risk? Accolade
said operating costs have become unsustainable
resulting in the company operating at a financial
loss in 2024, just last year. This precarious
situation raises questions about whether Accolade
can guarantee long term uninterrupted service and
employment at Oak Hill.

Accolade owners told Capitol News that
their cash flow is dire, growth prospects are
limited, and the company's survival is uncertain.

This certainly poses a significant risk to the
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stability of our Oak Hill's residents and to staff
jobs, right? The owners of Accolade stated to
Capitol News that they are concerned about
industry closures and face uncertainty regarding
their own facilities. That's troubling.

Oak Hill isn't just a facility. It's a
symbol of who we are as a community and the
compassion we extend to one another. We had an
overwhelming approval of a $20 million bond
referendum and the creation of a substantial
endowment fund and an unwavering commitment of
local ownership. ©Oak Hill is the heart of Monroe
County. It's sustained by neighbors, friends,
volunteers whose dedication is not going to be
matched by a for-profit company. It's just not
going to happen.

So in summary, this is a pivotal moment
from Monroe County. Accolade is a for-profit
organization facing financial distress and is
likely to prioritize profits over people, which
would endanger access to essential care for our
most vulnerable residents here in Monroe County.

For over 60 years, Monroe County has

provided a standard of compassionate care that's
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unmatched throughout the United States and in this
state. ©Oak Hill has maintained a strong four and
five-star rating, which Accolade has not matched,
period, in any other facility. And Accolade has
acquired seven nursing facilities, none right
higher than a three-star, and they actually closed
one. So the rapid growth and instability
increases the risk of future sale or potential
bankruptcy.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Thank vyou.

Judy Niemann? Judy Niemann?

MS. NIEMANN: Judy Niemann,
N-I-E-M-A-N-N.

The Monroe County Commissioners have
not always had the expertise to operate a skilled
nursing facility. Former county boards have
worked diligently to provide other healthcare
options for its success in the past without
leasing or selling the facility.

One of those examples being 25 years
ago, the County Board decided they would hire a
manage firm to assist the nursing home with
changing regulations, staffing issues, and

appropriate Medicare and Medicaid billing, but
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still reported to the commissioners in all their
decisions. The commissioners were still involved
with overseeing Oak Hill as voted by taxpayers in
Monroe County. They were also instrumental in
finding a competent administrator to manage the
nursing home.

Since 1951 till 2000, 49 years, the
nursing home has had 11 administrators. The
current County Board of Commissioners stated they
employed five administrators in the past five
years. In reality, they have only hired three
administrators. The nursing home's long time
administrator was there for 21 years and decided
to go part-time. Then the commissioners hired a
full-time administrator and fired him within a
year. The long time administrator left her
part-time position to take over the full-time
administrator position for six months until the
board hired -- hired another full-time
administrator.

The next administrator was terminated
within two years of being hired. Then the board
gave the position to an LPN at the facility. She

had no experience as a nursing home administrator,
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but was going to school for her nursing home
license. She left the facility within 10 months
of taking that position after an audit was
completed and the financial records were
substandard, which leads us to the present
situation.

Most of those administrators were
terminated by the county commissioners. Were the
administrators properly vetted to ensure the right
person was hired for this very crucial -- crucial
position? Why should the seniors of Monroe County
have to pay the price for the mismanagement of Oak
Hill by the commissioners? I --

THE ADMINISTRATOR: You're taking her
time.

MS. NIEMANN: I oppose —-- I oppose the
lease between Oak Hill and Accolade Healthcare. I
feel Oak Hill is an exceptional senior facility
and needs to stay county owned and operated.

There are not many choices and a 15-mile radius of
Waterloo for exceptional care like Oak Hill
provides. If Accolade does not keep up the same
standards of care Oak Hill is known for, where

will the seniors of Monroe County receive their
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care®?

MR. VINDEN:

MS. NIEMANN:

That's time.

The commissioners have

stated in their letter to the board that the only

other facility in -- in Monroe County is a

one-star nursing home.

And now they want to lease

our nursing home to a nursing home chain that has

an average of 2.3 overall star rating. I plead

with this board. So please deny Accolade's

request for their certificate of need so our

seniors will have the best care they deserve.
THE ADMINISTRATOR: Thank you.

MS. NIEMANN: Oak Hill is an essential

service.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Thank you very
much. Thank you.

Do you have a second copy? I need
that. Do we have two? If you have two copies,

I'd appreciate it.
MS. NIEMANN: Oh, two copies?
THE ADMINISTRATOR: Yes.
MS. NIEMANN: Okay.
THE ADMINISTRATOR: Thank you, kindly.

That's very helpful.
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Donna DeWilde?

MS. DEWILDE: Donna, D-O-N-N-A,
DeWilde, D-E, capital W-I-L-D-E.

Oak Hill has been a county home for
approximately 75 years. And the taxpayers has
supported the home as evidenced by building the
first county home, adding additions to that
building twice, and then Building Oak Hill. A
decision was made by the commissioners to lease
the nursing home for five years, and with the
possibility of another five years, are selling it
at a fixed price pending a referendum from the
taxpayers. How could they make this decision that
has a great impact on residents of Oak Hill senior
citizens and 200 employees without being
transparent to the taxpayers?

Information obtained through the
Freedom of Information Act indicates the
commissioners were already considering leasing Oak
Hill as early as of March of 2025. And I'm sure
many months prior to March, there were discussions
on this during their many closed meetings. There
was ample time to have meetings with the community

to voice their concerns with regarding ownership
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of Oak Hill and receive feedback. Transparency
was needed, but not given.

According to information provided to
Illinois Health Facilities and Service Review
Board, the commissioners made the decision to
quote, Exit the business so it could focus on
public safety and essential services. Should not
the county taxpayers have a voice in the decision
to exit the business? And isn't Oak Hill, the
seniors in Monroe County part of the essential
services? And are they not included in public
safety?

Signing a lease to Accolade Healthcare
to take over operations of Oak Hill without having
to -- to regularly report to commissioners, as
previous administrators and the management firm
did, does not seem to go with their focus of
public safety and proven practice. The safe --
the staffing issues, complex and growing
regulations requiring costly managers were
mentioned as some of the reasons for exiting the
business. The nursing home industry has faced
many complex and growing regulations for the past

75 years.
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As a nurse and a DON with 35 years of
employment at Oak Hill, I saw many complex and
challenging changes where administration and staff
met those challenges and made the required
changes. Oak Hill, a not-for-profit facility has
had to resort to agency staff, as many healthcare
facilities do, to provide for the care our
residents needs and deserve -- what our residents
need and deserve.

Will Accolade Healthcare, a for-profit,
do the same? Per information from CVS, on
average, accolade has a l.5-star rating for
staffing. ©Oak Hill has a four store rating for
staffing for CMS. I oppose this lease and request
for -- and the request for the certificate need by
Accolade. Let us look forward to celebrating 100
plus years of quality care Oak Hill has and should
continue to provide to the senior citizens in the
Monroe County.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Thank you. If you
have two, that'd be great.

MS. DEWILDE: I did some crossing on -—-

THE ADMINISTRATOR: That's fine. T

appreciate it. Thank you.

PLANET DEPOS
888.433.3767 | WWW.PLANETDEPOS.COM




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

Transcript of Public Hearing
Conducted on October 8, 2025 47

Nancy Schanz?

MS. SCHANZ: My name's Nancy,
N-A-N-C-Y, S-C-H-A-N-Z.

I am a lifelong resident of Monroe
County, 70 years old, and I currently live in
Waterloo. My association with Oak Hill, formerly
Monroe County Nursing home, goes back to the mid
1960s when I was a little girl. My grandma was a
resident there. I then worked as a CNA at 16
years old and I've worked in three different
capacities since I graduated from high school.
I've seen a lot of community care, concern, and
involvement firsthand go into this facility. I
was also an advocate for my mom in 2017 when she
was a resident of Whispering Pines, and my
brother-in-law in 2019 on the skilled care unit.

This facility was as good as it could
be with the previous administration for many
years. Kim listened and problem solved with --
when a concern was brought to her attention. The
facility has always lost -- has already lost many
top notch employees in the last few years. This
is due to the wrong administrators being placed in

charge of the facility. The County Board is
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looking for a quick out. They want to lease it to
Accolade and have a quick way to get out of
dealing with the problems, which has a less than
ideal reputation.

The community was not made aware of any
consideration to lease the operation of Oak Hill.
There are many, many willing and qualified
citizens in our county who would serve on an
advisory board. If this is necessary to assist
our County Board, I'm sure it could be easily
established. Part of their assigned duties when
they were elected was to oversee the operation of
Oak Hill. I feel that this lease being approved
would be a huge mistake for our senior population.
We deserve better than a lease to this corporation
with an unattractive track record.

If a lease must take place, appropriate
homework should be done prior to a decision being
made by the County Board. And this should involve
the community who has done so much to make this
facility stand out as one of the best in the state
of Illinois for all these years. We need another
amazing administrator who does their best to

resolve concerns and 1s fair and consistent. It
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all starts at the top. Our county is much better
than this, and we deserve much better than this
decision. Please do not approve this lease.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Thank you.

Julia Olszewski. Thank you.

MS. OLSZEWSKTI: Julia, J-U-L-I-A,
Olszewski, O-L-S -- it's on the letter. Okay.
Okay. All right.

My name is Julia Olszewski and I am
speaking this evening to oppose the lease of 0Oak
Hill to Accolade. I was the Whispering Pines
Memory Care Director at Oak Hill for 20 years. I
understand that Accolade will be de-certifying
Whispering Pines, and there will no longer be a
dedicated Alzheimer's unit at Oak Hill. This is a
grave injustice for the citizens of this area and
the residents of Oak Hill's Memory Care Unit and
their families.

Whispering Pines was designed for the
safety and wellbeing of those with dementia. If
the Pines is de-certified, that means the exit
doors at the end of each hall, Cedar and Spruce,
that exit into the parking lot and then into a

subdivision, will be unlocked. They will be
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egress doors. Anyone can hold the -- the handle
down and get out after 15 seconds. Believe me,

many, many times, we panicked when we'd hear those
alarms go off. But -- but we had a waiver from
the State that allowed those doors to be locked at
all times, except in case of an emergency, like a
fire.

It is my understanding that the
residents with dementia will still reside on that
unit, and having unlocked doors to the outside
will pose a risk for serious injury or possible
death for a resident who may unintentionally leave
the building. Is this worth the risk? I think
not. According to the Alzheimer's Association
statistics from 2023, 10 to 11 percent of the
County's population has dementia. That is 700
individuals in Monroe County, and that number will
continue to grow.

Monroe County needs a safe and
compassionate place for those with dementia to
live, when they can no longer live at home
anymore. Accolade is already -- already not
replacing activity staff positions on Whispering

Pines, causing more safety risks, such as falls,
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due to lack of supervision.

The main reason Accolade would want to
de-certify the Pines is to make more money to line
their pockets at the expense of some of the most
vulnerable residents. Please seriously consider
the negative impact that Accolade will have on our
loved ones with dementia, and their families, in
the Monroe County and surrounding areas. Should
anyone have issues with Accolade and how they run
Oak Hill, please call the commissioners. And if
you need to write this down, it is (618) 939-8681.
That is the County Courthouse number, extension
214.

Again, the county commissioners --
again, call the County Courthouse, it's in the
phone book, but it is extension 214. Don't take
it out on nice Sheila who answers the phone, but
be sure to get your message across.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Thank you.

Richard Trent.

MR. TRENT: Richard Trent. T-R-E-N-T.

My name is Richard Trent. Some of you
folks knew my mother. She volunteered at Oak Hill

for more than 25 years, and she ran the gift shop,
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and she also printed the monthly newsletter. I
was asked by Kim Keckritz, when they were building
Oak Hill, if I would serve on an advisory board,
and I agreed to do that.

And we had a meeting once a month, and
every month, we were -- in addition to what we
were -- what was going on at Evergreen Pointe, we
were also given the financials for Oak Hill and
Evergreen Pointe. Well, later on, Evergreen
Pointe, but Magnolia Terrace.

And not only did we get the financials,
but we also got their star rating for that
particular time, and we always had a five-star
rating. It was in U.S. News and World Report
that Oak Hill had one of the highest ratings in
the United States, and I -- I give all the credit
for that to Kim Keckritz. And -- well, anyway,
here's what I have for the county commissioners:
You wanted the job, which you knew included
administration of Oak Hill. You got the job, now
do the damn job.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Daniel DeWilde. I
know that's not spelled -- it sounds -- Daniel?

MR. DEWILDE: No. ©No, I'm not speaking.
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THE ADMINISTRATOR: You're not speaking?

Pam Mathews.

MS. MATHEWS: M-A-T-H-E-W-S.

MS. LEGRAND: Two T's?

MS. MATHEWS: One T.

Hi. I'm Pam Mathews and my mother,
Luella Baker, is a resident on Whispering Pines.
She has memory issues, as so many of us do. She's
been there a little over three years and has been
taken care of so well. I never worry about her.
I'm informed if she's not feeling well, if there's
an issue with her teeth, her hearing aids. And I
can't thank the staff of Oak Hill -- Monroe
County, Oak Hill, enough for taking care of Mom.
Mom is 101 years old, and according to her
geriatrics specialist at St. Louis University,
she'll live to be 113, at least. I used to worry
about that, but --

All of our out of town family that
comes to see my mom remarks repeatedly each time
they're there, how clean the facility is, how well
it smells, unlike so many others, and how the
staff there treats my mom, as if they're part of

the family. And they are. Don't mistake that.
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Mom couldn't be happier living at Oak Hill, with
her family and the new home that she now has. I
do not believe Mom will receive the superb care if
Accolade takes over. Whether it's Accolade or any
other corporation, they don't care about people as
the residents here do, the county employees do.
They care, and that's what we should be doing.

All of us.

Let's keep Oak Hill owned and operated
by our county. Let's deal with the issues. And
if there is learning to be had, let the county
commissioners come up and step up to the table,
and provide that for our county employees. That's
what we do. We should do that -- we do it for our
children, we should do it for our elders. I'm not
impressed with our commissioners. I don't even
know them, but their work, of late, has been very
sad.

Unlike Delbert Wittenauer, you couldn't
ask for a better commissioner. And I do know
Delbert, and even though we're on opposite
parties, I love that man and I'd vote for him
again, anytime. We need people who care about us,

about our parents, about our grandparents, and we
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should be able to control that. Please don't give
our county nursing home to Accolade.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Thank vyou.

Gary Baum.

MR. BAUM: First name is Gary, G-A-R-Y,
last name is Baum, B as in boy, A-U-M.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Thank you.

MR. BAUM: I -- I urge you, I think I
speak for most people in this room, do not agree
to this proposal. We hope that you oppose it.
The president of the Board of Commissioners
identified a couple of points that said that the
-- the costs of running the nursing home and the
hiring of -- of the nursing staff as an issue.
Well, they -- for years, the commissioners of the
County has unduly straddled the nursing home of
Oak Hill with unnecessary financial burden, that
none of the other departments in the county have
to meet up to. So they're -- they should stop
that.

They shouldn't -- back in the '90s,
Sandy Baum was the administrator of the nursing
home, and she presented the commissioners with

indisputable facts about these financial burdens,
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and their only response was to not rehire her for
the next year.

He talked about being unable to hire
the -- the nursing staff. There -- there's
difficulty in doing that, but Accolade -- the
interim administrator, last week, said that

Accolade does not have a pool of staff to draw

from. So that's -- that's not going to help, you
know, hiring -- adding more financial burden onto
the -- the nursing home with this management

company. So that's all the points I have. I,

again, urge you, please do not approve this

proposal.
THE ADMINISTRATOR: Thank vyou.
Bonnie Christiansen. Bonnie
Christiansen.

MS. CHRISTIANSEN: Hi. Bonnie
Christiansen, C-H-R-I-S-T-I-A-N-S-E-N.

All right. I was asked to talk today
about my peers. I'm also representing the union
as the shop steward. Many of our peers are
fearful.

THE AUDIENCE: Speak up.

MS. CHRISTIANSEN: Oh, me, speak up-?
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This has never happened to me.

Okay. So many of my peers have asked
me to talk today, because they fear coming out
here and having a target on their back. They fear
if they speak up for their jobs, for their
retirement, that we're going to lose. We're all
losing our retirement. We're going to lose sick
days, which is causing havoc because many people
have three and four weeks of sick time, we're not
going to be able to carry it over. We've been
told this. So now they're calling in sick. Well,
guess what that means? We're spending more money
having agency come in, we're spending more money
paying extra staff to come in and work overtime.
It's causing havoc.

Continue the -- the care -- you can't
give good care if people are calling in sick,
because they want to use the sick time they
earned, they deserve. We've been told that this
is just prolonging the inevitable, that Accolade
is coming in. They're taking over. We're not
going to get to keep our insurance. That's a big
thing for a lot of people. There's a lot of

single women working there, that have kids, that
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need to know what insurance we have. Our IMRF,
we're never going to get to retire. I'm going to

be in there and still have a room.

I do not know what the job of the
commissioners is. I don't know what their job
description is. I have no clue. I live in
Rocher, I don't even think we have commissioners.
But what I want to know is, are they going to get
a pay cut? Because 1f they're not taking care of
Oak Hill, are they going to a pay cut? Are we
cutting their salary? If they're not doing their
job, can they get fired and lose their retirement?
Because that's what they're doing to me, they're
taking my retirement, and I'm doing my job.

At every meeting I've had, I've only
had George at the meeting. Where are the other
two? They get paid to take care of Oak Hill.
Where are they? They've never been to any of the
contract negotiations, they'wve never been to any
of the meetings. So where are they? But they
still get a paycheck, correct?

We've lost some staff. It breaks my
heart. Good staff. People that showed up. They

took care of your moms. They took care of your
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dads. They left because they were scared of the
unknown. They didn't know what was going to
happen. We had -- a lady today just told me, she
got a PRN job because she doesn't know what's
going to happen and she's got to support herself.
So she got her foot in the door somewhere else.
Somewhere else. Why are we letting that happen?
We can't.

Today I walked into work and one of my
patients started crying when she saw me, because
she hadn't seen me in five days.

MR. VINDEN: 30 seconds.

MS. CHRISTIANSEN: Five days, she
didn't see me. And she was scared because she
thought I left, and she knows that I'm going to
take care of her and I'm going to be there for
her. She knows that we are going to -- everyone
there is going to love her and take care of her.
The patients should not be fearful.

Also -- I forgot where I'm at now.
You've gotten me nervous.

The thing that doesn't matter is what
my uniform says, what my name badge says, what the

door says. I'm still going to give good care.
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But I beg you, keep it Oak Hill.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Thank you.

MS. CHRISTIANSEN: Thank vyou.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Gweneth Niehaus.
Gweneth Niehaus. Gweneth Niehaus.

MS. NIEHAUS: Do you want my phone?
Gweneth, G-W-E-N-E-T-H, Niehaus, N-I-E-H-A-U-S.

So my name is Gweneth Niehaus and I am
speaking today as a friend of the residents of 0Oak
Hill Senior Living and Rehabilitation Center, as
well as a volunteer of Activity Department, and I
volunteered with the Tulsa VALOR for the veterans.
I have spent time with the residents, the
families, and dedicated staff, to make Oak Hill
such a special and compassionate place. I am here
to oppose the change of ownership from Monroe
County to Accolade.

Transferring Oak Hill for a for-profit
organization poses serious risk to both the
quality and the accessibility for care of our
seniors, for a profit ownership often lead to
prioritizing financial gain over patient
wellbeing. These operators frequently favor

higher paying residents and may limit access for
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individuals who rely on Medicare or other lower
incomes.

This type of cherry-picking will
disadvantage many of the residents and families in
our community. I have personally witnessed what
can happen in a for-profit nursing home. Another
facility, which was in Monroe County, I saw

residents left tied to wheelchairs and hallways

for hours. Many slept -- slumped over, asleep, in
discomfort, due to chronic under-staffing. This
was not an occasional sight. It was a daily
occurrence. That kind of neglect robs residents

of dignity, comfort, and safety.

Oak Hill has always been for
compassionate community-based care, serving people
of all financial backgrounds with respect and
integrity. Turning it over to a for-profit
operation, like Accolade Ventures, would endanger
that legacy and the values that make Oak Hill so
important to Monroe County. For these reasons, I
am strongly urged the Illinois Health Facilities
and Service Group Review Board to deny the
application 25-031 and preserve Oak Hill as a

trusted community center, homes for our seniors.
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And thank -- thank you for your time.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Marilyn Brinkmann.

MS. BRINKMANN: I don't have it typed.
I just have it written.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: That's fine.

MS. LEGRAND: Can you spell your last
name and first name?

MS. BRINKMANN: B-R-T-N-K-M-A-N-N.

MS. LEGRAND: M-A-R-I-L --

MS. BRINKMANN: M-A-R-T-L-Y-N.

Okay, everybody needs to -- they need
to know that our first priority here is to the
residents. It's not what you all want, what they
-- what I want. 1It's what they want. And right
now, with you -- with them closing the gift shop,
they look forward to go and get ic cream. They
can't now, because it's not there. And, you know
-— and I know other people say that, you know,
I've said that already, and I believe that if
you're there purely for the money, then you don't
need to work there.

And this company is going to be purely

for the money. And I -- that's not right. You
know? And it's just -- you know, and they love --
PLANET DEPOS
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and then -- and there's another one here. I know
I'm talking different things, but -- and they all
love our different colored uniforms.

They said that we're going to get one
colored uniform. This is not -- this is their
home. It's not an institution. You know, they

come up to me almost every day, say, oh my gosh, I

just love your uniform you got on. You know? And
it's colors, and they like it. You know?
And I work there now, and I love -- I

love my job. I really do love my Jjob there. I
love -- my residents, you know, some of them, you
know, because they're -- and they're --
activities, they're getting down on activities.
Some of these residents don't have visitors, that
many visitors. They love having those activities.
They look forward to the activities.

Well, a lot of them were cut. That's
not right. You know? That's wrong. And it is
wrong. It's wrong. I mean, why can't they have
the activities? I mean, they have bingo. I mean,
sometimes they win a quarter, but they look
forward to that. You know? And I don't -- you

know, and if you all guys are going to come in and
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see them, are you going to come to -- to Waterloo?
You know, are you going to be taking care of what,
you know, we do -- we like doing that, I love my
job, but I don't think -- I don't think I'm going
to stay there for much longer.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Thank you.

Scot Luchtefeld.

MR. LUCHTEFELD: Hi. L-U-C-H -- that's
Scot with one T, by the way. L-U-C-H-T-E-F-E-L-D.

Taxpayer, Monroe County, has supported
Oak Hill from its beginning, and even before, in
the old facility. Oak Hill has paid its own debt.
With the help of voter support, it has delivered a
five-star rating for many years, and has made
other facilities in the area compete. This raised
the care level for seniors in the entire area.

In the last few years, the
commissioners have run it into the ground by not
doing diligence watching over it. They have also
charged extravagant fees for the county services.
Now they want to liquidate it to shed the
responsibilities, add cash, and all the hard work,
and the taxpayer support over the years.

The money will last as long as they're
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in office, and when -- when they are gone, the
County will have to raise taxes tremendously to
support the pet projects and county government
personnel -- personnel growth that is unwarranted.
The taxpayers voted it in, the taxpayers voted to

be taxed for its support, so the taxpayers should

vote to discontinue it. It also -- supported by
yearly real estate tax. This should end and not
be reapplied if it is no longer owned -- owned.

The endowment board has spent millions
on its support of niceties for the facility. This
does not belong to the county and, therefore, it
needs to be legally decided where it goes, along
with the things that it had purchased.

It definitely should not go to the
county or the lessee and the buyers. This is a
piece of Monroe County and should be liquidated on
the whims of the commissioners who were not
willing to do what they were elected to do? Also,
does Oak Hill balance Medicaid, Medicare patients
to care for everyone, but stay profitable? And I
will submit my testimony online also, with
questions to the board that we would like answers

to.
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Unfortunately, we had a county board

meeting that was called comment-only. We -- we
voiced our questions. None of them have ever been
answered. So let's get the damn questions
answered. Thank you.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Thank you, sir.

Mary Ferguson. Mary Ferguson.

MS. FERGUSON: Mary Ferguson,
F-E-R-G-U-S-0-N.

First off, I want to say thank you for
having this meeting. And I feel totally
inadequate being up here before all of you, with
everything everyone else has presented. But I
have several friends at Oak Hill and I want to
tell you, it's very difficult to go there right
now. Sorry, I'm getting emotional. I have sat
with at least one person, holding their hand while
they cried and said, I don't know where I'll go if
they decide they don't want some of us anymore.
Because, you know, when you're going from a
nonprofit to a profit, these people are just a
commodity, and that's what was said to me.

And I feel very sad that we're thinking

about giving up this beautiful facility, that when
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you walk through it, it is beautifully taken care

of. That lovely nurse in the back back there,

every time I come in to visit, she greets me. And
many times, I get hugs. And I feel so sorry for
many of the staff there, because they're -- they

feel somewhat beaten down because they don't know
exactly what's going on. They don't know what
their pay is going to be. They've talked about
their retirement, Jjust like she had stated. And,
you know, these are just not fair things for the
people that are caring for our loved ones to have
to go through.

OQur loved ones shouldn't be subjected
to this anxiety of not knowing where they're going
to be or if they're going to be taken care of the
way they have to this point. And I just ask that
you can reconsider this, because it means so much
to all of us. Thank you.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Thank you.

MS. FERGUSON: Thank you.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Pamela Muertz.

MS. P. MUERTZ: Last name, M-U-E-R-T-7Z7.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Thank you.

MS. P. MUERTZ: You didn't start the

PLANET DEPOS
888.433.3767 | WWW.PLANETDEPOS.COM




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

Transcript of Public Hearing
Conducted on October 8, 2025

68

clock yet, right?

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Go ahead. You're
fine.

MS. P. MUERTZ: All right. My name 1is
Pam Muertz. I am speaking today as a concerned
resident of Monroe County. Oak Hill has been a
cornerstone of our community for decades. It not
only affects the residents, their families, the
workers, and the taxpayers, but also our community
volunteers. That can include churches, scouting
groups, other senior citizens, other youth, bands
that go and volunteer to play, among others.

People have bought homes nearby because
they relied on Oak Hill being there or they have
families there. We've paid taxes to build
sidewalks to get us near Oak Hill. Within walking
distance, medical buildings have been built. Much
of this is just due to the close proximity of Oak
Hill. While I understand the financial pressures
that led to this lease, I'm deeply concerned about
the lack of county oversight once Accolade takes
control. Specifically, as is proven in their
other facilities, the counties and families will

have no decision-making authority to fix it.
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Accolade has faced neglect allegations
at other facilities, human rights, abuse, and
wrongful death. Patients from Magnolia Terrace
now, if they fall and break a hip, there is no
guaranteed admittance into Oak Hill. That's gone.
So where they go, we don't know. Don't know where
they'll go. They're already hiring, threatening
firing, or forcing retirement. They have meet and
greet scheduled. 1It's like they've already taken
over.

This community is rare. As opposed as
we are in politics, when someone needs help,
whether it is due to a disaster, an illness of a
young person, cancer even in other adults, we all
rally behind them. Politics be damned. We are
all here today to show you we are all here to help
this community. The board is not on their own.
Let us help save our investment.

I urge the state to consider requiring
the County to establish a formal oversight
mechanism, not just the county board, such as the
Citizen Advisory Board or a board comprised of
established workers from Oak Hill to ensure the

care, transparency, and accountability of our
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county-owned nursing home. At least make the
board allow this until the County has an
opportunity to vote on this.

For over 40 years we've paild taxes --
or I've paid taxes to Monroe County. I've
supported Oak Hill, not just financially --

MR. VINDEN: 30 seconds.

MS. P. MUERTZ: -- but with the belief
it would always be a place of dignity and care for
our seniors. Now we're being robbed of that
investment when we lease Oak Hill to a private
company with a history of complaints.

All of these meetings that the County

has had have been last minute to intentionally

limit us from going to their meetings. They have
a 48-hour notice time. They tell us 49 hours
before the meeting. They don't answer our

questions. George Hill admittedly said, they've
been studying this for 18 months. And we've just
heard about it.

So I urge the state to reconsider the
lease to protect the workers who've served our
community and to ensure Oak Hill remains a public

institution that reflects our values. Thank you.
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notes?

you would

Thank you.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Thank you.

MS. P. MUERTZ: You don't mind all my

THE ADMINISTRATOR: No, not at all.
MS. P. MUERTZ: That would be great if
read all my notes.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Will do.

MS. P. MUERTZ: Good to talk to you.
THE ADMINISTRATOR: Thank you.

MS. P. MUERTZ: Thank you very much.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Appreciate that.

Sidney Horn?

MR. HORN: That's S-I-D-N-E-Y, H-O-R-N.

I moved down here to Monroe County approximately

25 years ago. I am a resident of this county. I

am also involved in local politics. And I go and

sit with Pat at county board meetings.

board began -- was -- was advised a year ago by

the auditor that there were issues with the

nursing home. And that auditor recommended that

the county get out of the nursing home business.

I found that somewhat appalling.

I know that then citizens came in and

The county
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spoke with the commissioners, and the
commissioners point-blank looked them in the eye
and said, we're not going to sell the nursing
home. Well, by that point, they were more than
likely already taking and negotiating with
Accolade or truly taking a look at doing this.
Now, as a citizen of Monroe County, as a resident,
I have supported this nursing home. I haven't had
to use it, but I've supported it through my tax
dollars, and I am graciously happy to do that.

And I know every one of you out here have done the
same thing.

Now, over the years, the commissioner's
job, which I think we need to understand, what is
their job description? What is it? Because I
believe they are negligent in their job. They
haven't been doing it.

Now, listening to budget talks, the
nursing home has always been profitable, but it
took work. And Delbert Wittenauer's name was
mentioned. He took the time to ensure that there
was a balance and that it -- the nursing home was
profitable. Our current commissioners do not seem

to want to do their job. In doing that, they have
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allowed for the profitability, which in budget
meetings recently, they're talking that the
nursing home was bringing in 1.1 million in
profits, or they were running in the black. Now
they can't run profitably? Well, part --

MR. VINDEN: 30 seconds.

MR. HORN: Thank you. Part of that, I
believe is because of a lack of oversight. It is
-- it is the commissioner. And then they begin to
peel off to -- to -- to handle shortcomings off of
-- calling it overhead of the nursing home. And
so they have set up this nursing home to fail for
all of us.

At this juncture, I believe that -- I
would hope that the notice of need due to a lack
of oversight and due diligence by our
commissioners is denied, because I don't see how
Accolade can lease this property at $750,000 a
year when it made a million and still be
profitable without a decrease in the level of
service to our senior citizens in their golden
years. Thank you for your time.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Thank you.

Tony Grasso III?
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MR. GRASSO: It's Tony, T-O-N-Y,

Grasso, G-R-A-S-S-0. And I go by III in my
business dealings.

Well, first of all, thank you for
everybody coming out. That shows you care. Real
estate developer by trade, tax lawyer by training,
I've been in those capacities probably since
before most of your lawyers in town have even been
born, so I like to think I can kind of smell out a
done deal, you know, when I smell one. I like —-
you know, I guess not, you know, perfect sense of
smell but pretty good -- pretty good handle on --
on those things.

The flip side of the coin, Crystal
Steinheimer was hired at Oak Hill in a -- in a
nursing capacity. Crystal Steinheimer, okay,
maybe she paid her debt to society, but I wouldn't
want Crystal Steinheimer taking care of my mom.

A friend of mine who's a resident at
Oak Hill, she had two strokes, she was unable to
speak, walker, very much, you know, physically
impaired. Not mentally impaired, but very much
physically impaired. 2 o'clock in the morning, she

choked to death on a piece of pineapple.
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If that isn't tragic enough, she was
supposed to have no food by mouth. She lifted a
piece of pineapple off of a tray off of a plate
somewhere, somehow. She choked to death at 2:00
in the morning. No food by mouth. I'll tell you
something. If that had been my mom, I'd be
selling Oak Hill to Accolade or somebody and not
Monroe County being the seller.

Natasha Larkin, agency CNA, midnight
shift, middle of the night shift, smoking pot in
what was told to me to be a clean room which, I
guess, 1s maybe a room that's supposed to be real
sanitary. I presume, a clean room. Smoking pot
in a clean room, middle of the night, set off the
fire alarm. Your fire department responded, was
told by whoever was in charge, nothing to see
here. Nothing to smell here, right?

So I FOI'd the fire department's
lawyers, some law firm in Alton. Well, I mean, I
grew frustrated with that process, and I have an
almost unlimited capacity to cause or -- or take
on frustration. Lastly, fire hydrant. There's a
fire hydrant on the back parking lot which, I

guess, 1s mostly employee parking lot. There's a
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fire hydrant back there.

MR. VINDEN: Time.

MR. GRASSO: Pardon me?

MR. VINDEN: That's time.

MR. GRASSO: Time?

MR. VINDEN: Yeah.

MR. GRASSO: Oh, okay. Check out that
fire department. Check out that fire hydrant and
see what's painted in front of that fire hydrant.
That took eight months. Thank you. I hope this
all works out because, you know, I'm 68 years old,
I understand. Thank you.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Thank you.

Is there anyone who wishes to testify
who has not had the opportunity? Seeing none, 1is
there anyone who has testified who wishes to
provide additional testimony?

MS. MATHEWS: I would.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Sure. Come up and
say your name.

MS. MATHEWS: Pam Mathews.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Come -- come on up,
please.

MS. MATHEWS: Sure. Make an old woman
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come up here.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Sorry.

MS. MATHEWS: It's all right. I'm Pam
Mathews, one T.

Mom's at a nursing home in Whispering
Pines. This is a secure facility. She's there
because of dementia. Mom was living with me up at
Sunset Motel. We bought it from Clyde's Estate.
It's been in the family since early '70s. Mom ran
it for Clyde for 26 years. Very -- lived there by
herself. Very independent lady. We made a room,
double room, just for her to live there. My son
built the porch, put a ramp in. She had bathroom
safety. Brought her meals over. Took care of her
at home as long as I could. Had knee surgery. My
daughter stepped up and took care of my mom.

Mom started wandering. She would get
with her walker and wheel to the front of the
office which is by Market Street. Look around in
her duster, 2 o'clock in the morning. We had
alarms on her bed. We had alarms on her door.
Finally, knocked a hole in the wall; had
carpenters doing an adjoining room so I could have

a bed there. 1I've slept with my mom many, many
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times. I'm no longer able to take care of her,
and they're taking away the security in Whispering
Pines? They're taking away the activities that
those people, that's all they have. What is wrong
with our commissioners? And I hope it's not wrong
with our state.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Thank You.

MS. MATHEWS: Please, vote (crosstalk)

One more thing -- one more thing. My
mom's 100 years old. She has hearing aids, and
she loses them. She puts them in a purse. She

puts them in a napkin all the time. 0Oak Hill,
county-owned and operated, Oak Hill has replaced
them each time. They're waiting to replace them
again, but I was informed today -- because that's
their job to take care of my mom. That's what
we're paying them for. That's what they receive
funds for, to take care of our parents, our
grandparents, and sometimes even us.

But Accolade will not do that, so
they're not doing their job. They don't take care
of us. They don't take care of our families, and

I doubt that they ever will.
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THE ADMINISTRATOR: Thank you.

Yes, ma'am?

MS. REED: I never got to finish
everything I originally began and I had some
questions.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Could you stand up
and say your name again?

MS. REED: Oh, I'm sorry. Sandra Reed,
R-E-E-D. I was, like, number two on the list.

But anyway, I never got to finish the questions I
wanted to ask of you to see if you were going to
follow through with some of the -- the things that
were brought up today. 1It's on the paper there.
Are you going to be able to respond, or would I
have time to just rattle off a few of them now?

THE ADMINISTRATOR: No, I -- I -- what
I would -- what I would suggest, first of all, you
have a -- one of our board members, one of our 10
board members here with us today. She will
represent to the entire board what -- what she has
experienced today.

MS. LEGRAND: My notes.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: On top of that,

each board member will get a copy of the
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transcript, the entire transcript, and your --
your written comments.

MS. REED: Right. And --

THE ADMINISTRATOR: You are -- you are
more than welcome to provide additional gquestions
in writing to the board. The board does not --
the board staff will not respond to that, but it
will take it under advisement, okay?

MS. REED: Well, I sure hope you do,
because we appreciate it. You're our last hope,
and we're trying so hard to save our nursing home
without going to a -- a corporation that is so
down at the bottom.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Thank vyou.

MS. REED: And has already lost --
already lost two of their facilities.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Thank vyou. So I'd
like to remind everyone to submit your written
comments so that we have this information for the
record. And as previously stated, this project is
scheduled for consideration at the state board
meeting on November 18th, 2025. This meeting is
in Bolingbrook. It'll be held at the Bolingbrook

Municipal Golf Club. It's at 2001 Rodeo Drive,

PLANET DEPOS
888.433.3767 | WWW.PLANETDEPOS.COM




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

Transcript of Public Hearing
Conducted on October 8, 2025 81

Bolingbrook, Illinois.

The public has until October 29th to
submit written comments -- further written
comments. These comments can be sent to my
attention at the Illinois Health Facilities and
Services Review Board, c/o the Illinois Department
of Public Health. The address is 525 West
Jefferson Street, Second Floor, Springfield,
Illinois, 62761.

If you prefer, you may e-mail your
comments. Our e-mail address is
dph.hfsrb.illinois.gov. All public comments must
be received in the state board office or e-mail
inbox on/or before October 29th to be considered
by the state board.

Are there any questions?

MS. REED: Just one.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Yes, ma'am.

MS. REED: If you don't approve the
certificate, will they be able to continue to
operate?

THE ADMINISTRATOR: The -- the -- the
process is the board will -- the board can either

approve it or deny it. The first time around all
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projects, if denied, get an intent to deny. An
intent to deny means they -- the board has
questions that they want the applicant to answer,
and they will have an opportunity to come back and
address those.

So that -- that's the process. So they
get essentially two bites of the apple with --
with this board.

MS. REED: Has there ever been any
success of denial?

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Actually, there has
been one project recently.

MS. P. MUERTZ: DeKalb County.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: They're -- they're
still -- yeah, they're still -- they —-- they never
filed for change of ownership.

MS. LEGRAND: And I'm sorry, you said
what county?

THE ADMINISTRATOR: DeKalb?

MS. P. MUERTZ: DeKalb County. Could
you repeat the e-mail address?

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Sure. Absolutely,
dph.hfsrb.illinois.gov.

MS. REED: 1Is Illinois spelled out?
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THE ADMINISTRATOR: I'm sorry,
@Illinois.gov. I'm sorry.
MS. REED: 1Is Illinois spelled out?

THE ADMINISTRATOR: It is spelled out.

Yes.

MS. MATHEWS: How many board members
have to approve -- for the state?

THE ADMINISTRATOR: It —- it is the
majority. It -- it -- a quorum has to approve so
that we have a -- it's an 11 member board. There
are 10 members. Regardless of that, six members

have to approve it for it to pass.

MS. MATHEWS: Okay. Wow .

MS. REED: And then in the meantime,
will Accolade be able to continue to operate in

Monroe County without their certificate?

THE ADMINISTRATOR: They -- they can't
operate. They're not the operator now. They
cannot operate. Ma'am, you had a question.

MS. P. MUERTZ: Yeah. Will you be --
well, will the board be --

MS. LEGRAND: Wait --

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Can you say your

name, please?
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MS. P. MUERTZ: Pam Muertz.
MS. LEGRAND: And can you come up here
because I'm -- it's hard to hear you.

MS. P. MUERTZ: Will the board be

investigating -- the state board, the fact that we

are telling you that, yes, they are proceeding
with operation as we speak. Will you be
investigating that to verify that our claims are
true? And can you stop it? Is -- is it in your
power to stop it or is it not even in your power

to do that?

THE ADMINISTRATOR: We -- we look at
all claims by the applicant -- people for the
application and against the application. The

Board does look at all claims.

MS. P. MUERTZ: So you will -- okay.
So if you decide against it, even though they've
started implementing changes, you'll be able to
stop that if the Board votes appropriately?

THE ADMINISTRATOR: I -1 -1 -1
don't -- all I can tell you is the Board will --

MS. P. MUERTZ: Okay.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: -- consider the

project for approval or denial.
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MS. P. MUERTZ: So it is not a done
deal, even though they would like us to believe
it's a done deal? It is not a done deal because
you haven't voted?

THE ADMINISTRATOR: It still has to be
voted on.

MS. P. MUERTZ: Okay. Now, if -- if
the vote to approve, if, and then you find out
four months after you voted to approve it, that
they were misleading in how they represented
themselves, say they flat out lied, at that point
is there anything to do to stop it, or then are we

stuck? Even though --

THE ADMINISTRATOR: I - I -1
wouldn't -- I wouldn't want to even comment on
hypotheticals. That -- that would be something

that would be referred to our legal counsel and
they would have to take it from there.

MS. P. MUERTZ: Okay. I --

THE ADMINISTRATOR: That's outside of
the --

MS. P. MUERTZ: Okay. I -- I have one
more thing that I'm curious about. Nobody has to

respond, but everybody in this room who voted to
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support these commissioners, who voted in that
office, how many people here would be willing to
change their vote if the election --

MS. WEIHL: I'd like to address that --
that last question that she asked.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Just say -- 1f you
could say your name.

MS. WEIHL: My name is Darline Weihl.
Okay. They had -- I called a meeting. Last
Wednesday, we got notice the morning of, they had
a meeting, a special meeting. The public didn't
know about it. I was one of the 12 people that
showed up. Okay. They met to -- the execution of
the lease agreement and operating transfer
agreement with Accolade Healthcare, Waterloo, LLC,
and Waterloo SLP, LLC. Okay. And also they
signed an approval of consulting agreement with
Accolade Healthcare, LLC, and Waterloo SLP, LLC,
whatever, that they can jointly operate.

However, that's the first anybody I've
ever heard that. Again, they have kept everything

so secretive, met behind closed doors, and it was

deliberately done in order to present -- to make
it seem like the deal was done. It has not been
PLANET DEPOS
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done. Nobody has seen the lease agreement.
They've made deals none of us know about it. And
that needs to be noted. Everything green hired --

MS. DOMINGUEZ: Hello. Ma'am, this is --

MS. WEIHL: -- and a service --

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Hold on. Let me
turn you off.

MS. DOMINGUEZ: This is Blanca
Dominguez, the general counsel for the board.
While we appreciate those comments, those
comments, those transactions, are between the city
or the county. And we don't have -- the board
doesn't have any authority over that. So it is
noted here, the public record, but those comments,
that -- that -- everything needs to be directed to
the proper county or city officials.

MS. WEIHL: So it means nothing then to
the board?

THE ADMINISTRATOR: No. The -- the
board will take it under consideration, but the --
the board cannot oversee the -- the deals that
they're -- that the county is -- I mean, that has
to be done with the county.

MS. WEIHL: Okay. So but I want this
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board to -- the board to know, everything with

them is behind the closed doors.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Understood. Yep.

MS. WEIHL: Okay.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Understood. You

made it loud and clear.

Ma'am, i1f you'd like to come up and
state your name?

MS. S. MUERTZ: Stephanie Muertz.
sorry. Stephanie Muertz, M-U-E-R-T-Z. Yeah.
everyone anyone aware that there are meet and
greets arranged for Accolade to meet the fami
members tomorrow?

THE AUDIENCE: Yeah.

MS. S. MUERTZ: Okay. I just was
wondering if everybody's aware of that.

THE ADMINISTRATOR: Thank vyou.

All right. Thank you very much,
everyone. And I deem this public hearing
complete. Thank you for your participation.

(OFF THE RECORD AT 5:54 P.M.)
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